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ESSEX PLACE-NAMES PROJECT.

The Essex Place-names Project is a County-wide survey to record place- and field-names from historical documents such as Tithe maps and apportionments, estate maps, sale 

and auction catalogues, conveyances, terriers, deeds, rolls, inquisitions and surveys.

The second element of the Project is to investigate on-the-ground visible remains which correspond to the Place-names for actual or potential archaeological, agricultural and industrial 

sites, and to record natural (topographical) and man-made features which may relate to the Place-name. This involves field-survey in rural and outside investigation in built-up areas.

It is anticipated that the Project will lead to identification of archaeological sites and lost historic buildings;  it will enable analysis of indicators of early settlement, land  holding, agricultural and industrial practices of the County.  It will refine the more precise meaning of descriptive words and elements used by earlier settlers as they gave names appropriate to the topography of the landscape of their time.

For convenience the surveys are based on the parish, recognising that present civil parish boundaries are not necessarily identical to former ecclesiastical boundaries.  Local Recorders 

are supplied with templates of Record Forms to ensure consistency of recording across the County, and forward completed forms to a Central Coordinator for  transfer to a county 

computer database which is available to researchers on the internet at www.essex.ac.uk/history/esah/essexplacenames, and updated periodically. 

This publication presents part of the information recorded from the Tithe or Estate Award and Map, and from other documents for this parish. The full record is contained on the master 

database at Essex County Council (Historic Environment Section) and on the (above) website. Parish books are available to be downloaded from the website link ‘Books’ on the Home page. Please notify errors to the Project Coordinator at the Essex Record Office. 

      THE TITHE  MAP AND APPORTIONMENT.
Since medieval times a tenth of the produce of land and stock had been paid by landholders to the church.  At the Dissolution of the  Monasteries, the property of many religious houses, 

including the right to collect tithes, passed into lay hands.  The Tithe Commutation Act which received Royal assent on 13th August 1836 abolished a rent payable in kind and 

substituted rent-charges apportioned on each plot or parcel. The tithe-rent  payable was assessed on the average value of  wheat, barley and oats and was to fluctuate with price movements.

The commutation could be by voluntary agreement between the local owners and payers or, if agreement failed, could be compulsorily imposed by commissioners.  A Valuer was to be 

appointed to apportion the rent of each parcel of land and tenants could deduct that rent-charge from their rent paid to the landlord.  The task fell to the Tithe Commissioners to produce a 

map and an Apportionment (Award).  A large-scale survey was produced for over 70% of England and Wales in the following 9 years, and about another 8% up to 1855. Most of the 

parishes in Essex were surveyed.  The map scales vary. The Award records ownership, tenancy and land-use, field by field and parcel by parcel (often quoting the field name) with the 

ground area and rent-charge.  

Land that was tithe-free tends to be less accurately mapped and contains few if any of the details recorded for those parcels subject to tithe.  Rights of way and  roads also tend to be 

neglected. Boundaries of the tithe areas are shown as are some natural features such as streams, ponds, gardens, greens and commons. Buildings are often shown coloured red if dwellings 

or grey if  not.  Because the Award may have been agreed only some time after the map was finished, discrepancies occur between the two.  Enclosure Awards, when extant, usually date to the 18th and early 19th centuries.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 J.Kemble.
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Wendens Ambo parish (in Uttlesford Hundred).

There is no Tithe Award for Wendens Ambo.  The field- and place-names in the list below are taken from the Survey of the Lands of John Robinson in Wendens Ambo and Newport, 
dated c.1825 (Essex Record Office D/DU 16/43), and from the 6” Ordnance Survey Map, c.1875.
In Domesday Book, 1086, Richard held Wendena (Little Wenden) from William de Warenne (from Varenne) which Wulfmer had held as a manor before 1066 for 1½ hides and 30 acres. Hugh held Wendena (Great Wendon) from Robert Gernon (‘the moustached’) which a free man had held as a manor for 7 hides less 6 acres with a mill (Morris, 1983; Kemble, 2007).  Great and Little Wenden are documented in 1251 (Reaney, 1935). Ambo (Latin, both) signifies the unification of the two parishes in 1662. For Wendena held by Amelfrid from Ralph Baynard (Wendon Lofts), see Hesse (2000). Watts (2004) translates this from Old English wende denu, ‘winding valley’, though Reaney (1935) suggests wenn, the hill around which the valley bends.
Under William de Montfichet, John de Wendene held 3 knights’ fees in Great Wenden c.1165. Sir Maurice de Berkele (died 1365) held Great Wendon of John Playz for one knight’s fee. Sir John Fray, in 1436 Chief Baron of the Exchequer, held it at his death in 1461.  William de Pebemers had free warren in Little Wenden in 1338 (Morant, 1768).  The two parishes are separately documented in 1251 as Great and Little Wenden (Reaney, 1935).  John Barker (died 1589) held the manor of Westbury of John Palmer. Wendon Parva is documented in a church inventory of 1552/3. Wendon Magna is documented in a probate return for Henry Leader dated 1639 (Challenor Smith, 1900).  

In Domesday Book the Hundred name was variously Udelsfort, Wdelesfort, Udelesforda, Odelesforda, (‘Udel’s ford’ or ‘ford by the outlying pastures’), formerly divided into East and West (Fowler, 1922; Reaney, 1935).  Christie (1926) places the moot at Wendens Ambo at Mutlow Hill where there was a mound by the ford through a tributary of the River Cam.  Uttlesford Hundred had Clavering Hundred taken out of it and probably Freshwell also (VCH, 1903).

Here was an Iron Age hamlet with at least two roundhouses.  Later, southwest of the church, a villa with a hypocaust, plastered walls and an apse-shaped room was built (Kemble, 2009).  The church dedicated to St. Mary the Virgin has a Norman west tower .  South of the church, Wenden Hall is a 15th century aisled hall. Wenden Place has 3-bays, 18th century (Pevsner, 2007). 

Field- and place-names from other documents are shown against the Survey names.
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The Place-names of Wendens Ambo.
	Rec Off
	Ref No
	Date of Docmnt
	Place-name
	Alias
	Fld No
	Grd Ref
	x
	y
	Acr
	rd
	pch
	land use
	Owner
	Other information

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Barrs Crofts
	
	69
	TL
	
	
	.
	.
	.
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Bulse Farm, bldgs, yard
	tenement of  Roger Bulle, 1299,Tilty
	59
	TL
	
	
	0
	3
	13
	
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold. Tithe free. Andrew le Bolle, 1285,Ass

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Burmead (pt)
	
	40
	TL
	
	
	1
	2
	31
	grass
	Robinson, John, esq
	freehold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Cottage, garden
	
	64
	TL
	
	
	0
	1
	18
	
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Cottage, garden
	
	67
	TL
	
	
	0
	0
	26
	
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Cottages
	
	57
	TL
	
	
	0
	3
	14
	
	Robinson, John, esq
	freehold. Tithe free

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Eight Acres
	
	95
	TL
	
	
	7
	1
	28
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Eight Acres
	
	96
	TL
	
	
	1
	1
	34
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Farm house, bldgs, yard
	
	55
	TL
	
	
	0
	2
	3
	
	Robinson, John, esq
	freehold. Tithe free

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Fidlers Hall Close
	
	68
	TL
	
	
	0
	2
	34
	
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Grove
	
	88
	TL
	
	
	5
	0
	14
	wood
	Robinson, John, esq
	wood

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	In Foxhole Shot
	
	70
	TL
	
	
	21
	1
	15
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	In Great Bulse Common
	
	71-4
	TL
	
	
	37
	2
	22
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold. John and Walter Bole, 1306,BartA, 1379,AD

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	In Little Bulse Common
	
	77
	TL
	
	
	1
	0
	0
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	In Little Bulse Common
	
	80
	TL
	
	
	0
	3
	27
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	freehold. John and Walter Bole, 1306,BartA, 1379,AD

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	In Little Bulse Common
	
	81
	TL
	
	
	4
	2
	12
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	In Lower Hockley Ley
	
	82
	TL
	
	
	2
	1
	33
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	In Upper Hockley Ley
	
	83
	TL
	
	
	3
	1
	20
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Lower Hoskins
	
	91
	TL
	
	
	2
	1
	13
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	The Meadow
	
	92
	TL
	
	
	5
	3
	15
	grass
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	The Moors, part of Bulse
	
	58
	TL
	
	
	10
	0
	1
	grass
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold. Tithe free

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Thirteen Acres
	
	89
	TL
	
	
	13
	1
	6
	arable
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	ERO
	D/DU 16/43
	c.1825
	Upper Hoskins
	
	90
	TL
	
	
	2
	2
	33
	grass
	Robinson, John, esq
	copyhold

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Chinnel Lane
	
	
	TL
	518
	362
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Claverend Bridge
	cp. Clanforth Ende, 1438,Rntl
	
	TL
	496
	361
	
	
	
	bridge
	.
	O.E. clan forde = clean ford

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Cornwallis Hill
	
	
	TL
	514
	374
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Duck Street
	
	
	TL
	511
	361
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Fighting Cock P.H.
	
	
	TL
	519
	365
	
	
	
	inn
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Little Wenden Church (site of)
	
	
	TL
	507
	365
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Mutlow Hill
	Mothlowschot, 1438,Rntl
	
	TL
	519
	363
	
	
	
	
	.
	O.E. mot = assembly place

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Neville's Hill
	
	
	TL
	515
	374
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Sir Joshua's Bridge
	
	
	TL
	521
	367
	
	
	
	bridge
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	St Mary's Church
	
	
	TL
	514
	365
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Trout Hall
	
	
	TL
	512
	363
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Uttlesford Bridge
	Odelefford, 1309,Walden
	
	TL
	520
	362
	
	
	
	bridge
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Wenden Hall
	Wendena, 1086,DB
	
	TL
	513
	363
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Wenden Mill (corn)
	Wenden Mill, 1777,C
	
	TL
	520
	365
	
	
	
	mill
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Wenden Place
	
	
	TL
	512
	363
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Westbury
	Wesburye, 1604, EA vii
	
	TL
	509
	364
	
	
	
	
	.
	

	Ordnce Svy 6"
	c.1875
	Wilkinson's Meadow
	
	
	TL
	522
	372
	
	
	
	
	.
	


For abbreviations see Reaney, P., Place-names of Essex, Cambridge 1935; and Kemble, J., Essex Place-names, Places, Streets & People, Historical Publications, 2007, p 153.

Wendens Ambo.


                                                                     Map  1

                                                                          Map  2
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                                                                                                                                                       6 inches = 1 mile

                                                                                                                                                                                     O.S. c. 1875

                                                                                                                                                                                      Sheets 8, 9
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Wendens Ambo parish in the County of Essex.
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